City of PCB City Hall
. 17007 PCB
Panama City Beach Paslavay
PCB, FL. 32413
P: (850) 233-5100
F: (850) 233-5108

CITY OF PANAMA CITY BEACH PR Lo
PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES
September 10, 2025
MINUTES TO THE REGULAR MEETING

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Wakstein at 1:00 p.m. and Ms. Deese was
asked to call the roll. Members present were Mr. Thomas, Mr. Coleman, Mr. Morehouse,
Mr. Wittstruck, Mr. Bishop, and Chairman Wakstein. Mr. Painter was absent. Chairman
Wakstein led the Pledge of Allegiance.

ITEM NO. 3 Approval of August 13, 2025, Planning Board Meeting Minutes
Chairman Wakstein asked if there were any comments or corrections to the meeting

minutes. A motion to approve was made by Mr. Morehouse, seconded by Mr. Wittstruck.
Ms. Deese called the roll.

Mr. Morehouse Yes Mr. Bishop Yes Mr. Thomas Yes
Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Coleman Yes Chairman Wakstein  Yes
ITEM NO. 4 Public Comments — Non-Agenda Items

There were no public comments.

ITEM NO. 5 Tootsies South, LLC is requesting approval for a Large
Conditional Use subject to Land Development Code Section
5.06.06. The proposed development is approximately 3.16 acres,
and the property is located at 8795 Thomas Drive
(Parcel: 30185-021-000). Continued from the August 13, 2025, meeting

Chairman Wakstein introduced the item and read aloud the proceedings for a quasi-
judicial hearing. All participants identified as affected parties were sworn in for testimony.
The application, public comment, and staff report were added to the record. Ms. Chester
acknowledged that all requirements of the application notices were satisfied. Ms. Deese
was asked to call Jennings Act.

Mr. Morehouse visited the property, spoke with staff, spoke with Police Chief
Talamantez, and spoke with counsel. Mr. Bishop had nothing to disclose.

Mr. Thomas visited the property and spoke with counsel. Mr. Wittstruck visited the
property. Mr. Coleman visited the property, spoke with staff, and spoke with
counsel. Chairman Wakstein visited the property.

Robert Carroll, McNeil and Carroll Engineering, Inc. and acting agent for the applicant
presented the application. There was one (1) attendee from the public at the community
meeting and was in favor of the application. There was one (1) written comment against
the site location and clientele. The proposed development is a multi-level, indoor
entertainment venue modeled after a similar concept in Nashville. The facility will operate
as a restaurant and bar with live music and no DJs. The building is soundproof; all
performances will be indoors. The development has 280 parking spaces, seating capacity
of 786, with the total occupancy being higher, and 40-50 employees. The venue
previously operated as a nightclub under prior ownership.

Page 1 of 4
Minutes of the Planning Board

September 10, 2025



Mr. Coleman questioned why the application was not submitted prior to construction and
asked about implications of denial. Mr. Carroll responded that alternative allowed uses
such as a restaurant could proceed without this approval and the owners would need to
decide how to move forward if there was a denial.

Mr. Morehouse raised concerns regarding possible future ownership changes and
suggested safeguards. He also asked if the conditional use would be tied to the property;
Mr. Davis confirmed that it would be.

Chairman Wakstein inquired about potential sound escape from the east side of the
building; Mr. Carroll confirmed no window or door openings on that side. He also inquired
about stormwater management due to prior flooding; Mr. Carroll indicated plans for
landscape enhancements and maintenance of the existing stormwater system.

Mr. Wittstruck asked about a roof structure from the former nightclub that currently sits in
the parking lot; Mr. Carroll confirmed it will not be used.

Mr. Thomas requested confirmation of occupancy load; Mr. Carroll confirmed a maximum
occupancy of 960.

Mr. Coleman and Mr. Cole Cunningham, representative of Tootsie’s, discussed the use
of the pool area. No live music or stage is planned outdoors; a wall is proposed in Phase |I.

Chairman Wakstein and Mr. Morehouse discussed the potential for future outdoor
events, which would require special event permitting.

Ms. Chester presented the staff report. Her noise concerns were addressed by Mr.
Carroll's presentation. The use is consistent with historical use of the site. She emphasized
that special events cannot take up required parking. Turtle lighting is addressed through
the building permit process. The applicant has mitigated noise levels to that parcel. She
recommended incorporating special event hour limitations as a condition of approval.

Chairman Wakstein called for adversely affected parties, public comment, and rebuttal at
this time, there were none. He concluded the evidentiary portion of the hearing and called
for closing arguments, there were none. Board deliberation was opened.

Mr. Morehouse requested to give safeguards to the City Council and mitigate problems
for the Police Department. Several recommendations were noted from a conversation with
Chief Talamantez. He asked if the meeting could be continued until next month in order to
allow the Police and Fire Chiefs to present concerns to the Board; Mr. Davis responded
that if it was the will of the Board.

Mr. Coleman asked for clarification on requirements for vendor set-up during special
events; Ms. Chester responded that vendors are allowed to set up only if they are not
utilizing required parking. He was not opposed to Chief Talamantez speaking but thought it
better at the City Council. He also noted that fire safety concerns are primarily governed by
existing code. Expressed concern about potential noise issues associated with the pool
area and stated his intention to proceed in good faith during the Board's deliberations.

Mr. Thomas concurred with Mr. Coleman, stating that he believed the applicant had taken
reasonable measures to address the noise concerns. Matters of public safety fall under the
jurisdiction of the Police Department, which has the authority to bring such issues before
the City Council. Regarding the pool area, he noted that well-known acts may perform
before 10:00 p.m., after which the event may transition into a beach-style party.

Mr. Wittstruck said that Chief Talamantez should share his input with the City Council.

Mr. Bishop was not sure that it is the role of the Planning Board to require testimony from
the Chief of Police. Stated they are looking at the application as it is today.

Chairman Wakstein acknowledged Mr. Morehouse's perspective, including his
understanding of the site and its history. He emphasized that the Board has only one
opportunity to establish the appropriate conditions. Previous conditional use approvals of a

Page 2 of 4
Minutes of the Planning Board

September 10, 2025



similar nature required licensed security professionals to be present in parking areas. He
also expressed that the Chief of Police should have input on the matter. He requested that
the Board discuss potential conditions should they choose to move forward with approval.

Mr. Davis commented that a previously approved conditional use for the Long Boards
establishment prohibited outdoor amplified noise after 10 p.m. He stated that maximum
occupancy limits will be determined in accordance with the Life Safety Code and Fire
Inspections. Special event triggers include exceeding the venue’s capacity, hosting a
ticketed congregation, use of municipal resources beyond normal operations, or
surpassing available parking capacity.

Mr. Coleman made a motion to approve the request with the conditions that there is no
amplified outdoor music after 10 p.m. and the Police Chief makes a recommendation to
the City Council on the number of security professionals required during certain times of
the year. It was seconded by Mr. Thomas.

Mr. Morehouse No Mr. Bishop Yes Mr. Thomas Yes
Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Coleman Yes Chairman Wakstein Yes

The motion to approve passed with a vote of (5-1).

ITEM NO. 6 Ordinance 1668: Administrative Approvals of Plats
(previously 6 & 7)

Mr. Davis gave a summary of state legislation implemented July 1st outlining
administrative approvals of plats by the City Engineer, Planning Director, and City
Attorney. He responded to Mr. Coleman that an appeal is made to the City Council as
outlined in Land Development Code.

Mr. Bishop made a motion to approve. It was seconded by Mr. Morehouse.

Mr. Morehouse Yes Mr. Bishop Yes Mr. Thomas Yes
Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Coleman Yes Chairman Wakstein  Yes

The motion to approve passed with a vote of (6-0).

ITEM NO. 7 Notices for Community Meetings- Discussion
(previously 8)

Chairman Wakstein initiated discussion on whether a two (2) week deadline requirement
for community meetings would be adequate. A longer timeframe may be burdensome for
developers.

Mr. Wittstruck expressed a preference for four (4) weeks, allowing for better public
participation.

Mr. Coleman and Mr. Wittstruck raised concerns about the buffer between mailing dates
and community meeting dates.

Chairman Wakstein continued discussion to the October 2025 meeting.

ITEM NO. 8 Variance Process- Discussion
(previously 9)

Chairman Wakstein expressed concern that after-the-fact variance approvals may
undermine the integrity of the Land Development Code.

Mr. Thomas agreed but did not want to exclude after-the-fact variances all together.

Page 3 of 4
Minutes of the Planning Board

September 10, 2025



Ms. Chester suggested that projects commenced without permits may be disqualified from
variance eligibility. Contractors who work without a permit may face disciplinary action by
the Examining Board; however, some permits do not require a contractor.

Mr. Bishop thought each application should be looked at individually based on the
irregular shape and hardship.

Mr. Wittstruck likes an element of humanity in the process.

Mr. Coleman observed that one (1) of the last four (4) after-the-fact variance requests
were approved. He did not want to completely close off after-the-fact permits and create an
unnecessary burden on the residents. A variance is subjective and asked to table so the
Board can clarify the standards.

Mr. Morehouse suggested eliminating variances altogether and was in favor of clearer
code provisions.

Chairman Wakstein continued discussion to the October 2025 meeting.

ITEM NO. 9 Code Enforcement Update
(previously 10)

Mr. Smith provided an update from mid-July through mid-August. Most of the Division’s
neighborhood enforcement efforts were in response to tall grass and detrimental
conditions. Enforcement of City ordinances on the beach were primarily in response to
holes and dogs on the beach. The Division provided assistance to other agencies during
this period.

The meeting adjourned at 2:33 p.m.

TN ~
DATEDthis.7 ¢ dayof Oerys,, , 2025.

Josh%Afakstein, Chairman

ATTEST:

1A J\ LV g @

Melissa Deese, Secretary

Page 4 of 4
Minutes of the Planning Board
September 10, 2025



